Grosvenor Hart Homes: Complaints Policy





Contents

Introduction3
Aims & key objectives4
What is a complaint?4
What is a Service Request?4
Exclusion grounds5
Who can make a complaint5
How complaints can be made6
MP referrals6
The Housing Ombudsman Service6
Complaint investigation principles7
How complaints will be handled8
Stage 18
Stage 29
Recording complaints
Immediate safety10
Our 3 key overarching principles in complaint resolution11
Customer communication11
Putting things right11
Compensation11
Restrictions
Promoting awareness of our approach to complaints12
Equality, diversity and inclusion12
Learning from complaints13
Performance measures13
Review schedule13



Grosvenor Hart Homes Complaints Policy

Introduction

Grosvenor Hart Homes Limited (GHH) aims to offer the highest possible service standards to its customers but we recognise we are not perfect and on occasion we will get things wrong. When this happens, we want to deal with complaints swiftly and bring them to a satisfactory resolution.

When we receive a complaint:

- We will investigate complaints in a confidential and respectful manner, agreeing with the customer how they will be kept informed throughout the process.
- We will always accept a complaint, unless there is a valid reason not to do so, or the customer instead asks us to treat the report as a Service Request (see below).
- Where the customer chooses to log a Service Request we will seek to resolve any issues to achieve a swift and satisfactory outcome for the customer.
- We take learning from complaints seriously and will ensure that lessons learnt from complaint investigations are used to inform service improvements.
- We will ensure that our complaints policy and approach comply with the requirements of the Housing Ombudsman and the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH).

GHH aims to deliver best in sector services, and we recognise that this will only be achieved by working closely with tenants and other customers, ensuring their feedback shapes all aspects of what we do. Therefore, we will engage with our tenants on an ongoing basis to help us to develop our complaints procedures, both through gathering feedback as part of our regular Customer Voice forums and through learning from tenants who have been through our complaints process.

We always welcome feedback on any of our policies, procedures or services at any time. If you have any comments, compliments or complaints about this policy or any of our services, please let us know.

You can make a complaint or provide feedback to GHH in any of the following ways:

- by telephone on 01244 563777 (core office hours: Monday-Friday, 9am-5pm)
- in person at any of our offices
- via our online <u>complaints form</u> on our website
- in writing to any of our offices
- by email to tenant.support@grosvenorhart.com

You can find a copy of the GHH Complaints Policy on our website: <u>https://www.grosvenor.com/hart-tenant-complaints</u> or by clicking <u>here</u>.

If you would like a printed copy of this policy, please email <u>tenant.support@grosvenor.com</u>



If the information we have provided is not in an accessible format for you, please let us know and we will look at how we can meet your needs.

Aims & key objectives

We will adopt the <u>Housing Ombudsman's Complaint Handling Code</u> 2024 and its dispute resolution principles namely to be fair, to put things right and to learn from outcomes. We will do this by:

- Resolving matters locally and as quickly as possible by being open, accountable and outcome focused
- Resolving complaints at the first point of contact wherever possible
- Treating all customers fairly
- Welcoming all customer feedback on service standards and we will make it easy for customers to provide feedback including making a complaint
- Ensuring all complaints are addressed and dealt with within published timescales wherever possible
- Recording, monitoring, and analysing feedback in order to examine service performance to improve service delivery
- Acknowledging that sometimes things go wrong, that complaints are viewed positively and that they provide us with an opportunity to learn, put things right and improve our services.
- Actively learning from customer feedback and complaints and promoting how feedback is used to improve services
- Having a range of options available to us to put things right when service failure occurs including compensation

What is a complaint?

We regard a complaint as an expression of dissatisfaction, however made, about the standard of service, actions or lack of action by the organisation, its own staff, or those acting on its behalf, affecting an individual tenant, group of tenants, prospective tenants, other customers, contractors or members of the public.

We acknowledge that a customer may not explicitly use the word 'complaint' when expressing dissatisfaction, but it will be made clear to the customer that they have the choice to register their dissatisfaction as a formal complaint.

What is a Service Request?

Occasionally a customer may require action from GHH to put something right but have no interest in engaging in a formal complaint investigation or may not require us to respond to their concerns in writing.

On these occasions we will treat the report as a service request. A service request is a request from a customer requiring action to be taken by GHH to put something right. This could include reporting a repair or maintenance issue or taking action to resolve a neighbourhood issue.

In these cases, we will work with the customer at the point of contact to put things right, explain how we will address the issue and achieve a solution that is acceptable to all parties. We will usually take this approach when dealing with straightforward problems where it is the first time the customer has told us about the issue. We will only take this approach where we have the express consent of the customer(s) and the outcome will be fed back to the customer in person, over the phone or by email.



Our systems enable us to record and track these 'service requests' allowing us to establish an audit trail and learn from customer feedback, but we will not routinely report upon them and to all intent and purpose they will fall outside of the scope and remit of this policy.

Where a customer is unhappy with how we have dealt with an issue, the service we have provided or our response to a service request, they can make a formal complaint.

When a service request becomes a complaint, we will continue our efforts to address the service request.

Exclusion grounds

We will consider all complaints on an individual, case-by-case basis and accept all complaints referred to us within 12 months of the issue having occurred or the customer becoming aware of the issue unless there is a valid reason not to do so. In some cases, we may apply discretion to accept complaints issued beyond this time limit where there are good reasons to do so.

We may not consider an expression of dissatisfaction under this policy if the issue:

- occurred more than 12 months ago
- has already been considered under this policy
- is feedback about another tenant's behaviour
- circumstances out of our control
- is subject to legal action
- relates to an insurance claim.

If we do not accept a complaint, we will explain the reason for our decision (and how we propose to address the customer's concerns) and where the customer is a GHH tenant, inform the customer that they have the right to take that decision to the Housing Ombudsman. We will comply with any subsequent Ombudsman decision which directs us to accept a complaint where the Ombudsman does not feel the exclusion has been fairly applied.

Whilst we encourage our communities to be supportive and our tenants to address any minor disagreements or issues between themselves, any feedback which relate to another tenant or household's behaviour will be dealt with through the GHH Neighbourhood Management or ASB Policies as appropriate.

These issues be reported to GHH:

- by telephone on 01244 563777 (core office hours: Monday-Friday, 9am-5pm)
- in person at any of our offices
- in writing to any of our offices
- by email to tenant.support@grosvenorhart.com

Who can make a complaint

We accept complaints from:

- Tenants
- Anyone who is in receipt of a service or is affected by a service that we provide
- Anyone who may potentially receive a service from us
- Members of the public
- Contractors
- Stakeholders



Complainants may make a complaint via an advocate. An advocate could be a friend, relative, support worker or an advocacy service such as the Citizens Advice Bureau. This may be in cases where a customer requires support due to physical disability, mental health or language barriers, or in cases where a customer has requested a representative act on their behalf.

Where a complaint is made via an advocate, we will obtain the customer's written consent for the advocate to act on their behalf. Where correspondence is received on behalf of a customer from a Councillor, MP, or Advocacy Service, consent will be assumed. An advocate can accompany or represent the customer throughout the complaints process including at meetings with GHH.

Any complaints that are submitted via a third party or representative will be handled in line with our standard GHH policy and procedures.

How complaints can be made

We welcome complaints and seek to make our complaints process accessible to all our customers. We therefore provide a range of options for customers to submit a complaint, including in person, in writing, by email, through an online form or by phone. Customers can relay or hand in their complaint in person at any GHH office or to any customer facing staff. Customers who make a complaint on social media (e.g., Facebook or Twitter) will be directed to our online complaints form.

We will identify service failures and do not expect customers to specifically say "I wish to complain." Survey feedback may not necessarily need to be treated as a complaint, though, where possible, the person completing the survey should be made aware of how they can pursue their dissatisfaction as a complaint if they wish to. Whenever we request feedback from our customers, we will provide information on how customers can make a complaint if they wish to.

In our endeavour to ensure our complaints process is accessible to our customers, we may reflect on a low volume of complaints as a sign that our customers are unable to complain and look at how we can address this. Conversely, we do not necessarily see a high complaints volume as negative, but rather as a sign that customers are aware of our procedures and that our complaints process is accessible.

We will continuously work with our customers to identify how we can better promote our complaints process and make it more accessible.

MP referrals

GHH also has robust measures in place to deal with MP enquiries. Although strictly outside the remit of this policy, reference is made here for completeness. Where an MP makes a complaint on behalf of a constituent this will be dealt with as a complaint, not an enquiry.

The Housing Ombudsman Service

GHH is a member of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme. The Housing Ombudsman sets out standards for landlords to deal with complaints and members are required by law to comply with the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 2024. This code is available here: <u>https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/landlords-info/complaint-handling-code/</u>

Tenants can contact the Housing Ombudsman if they feel GHH is not following its policy for dealing with complaints or if they have completed GHH's complaints process but feel the issues have not been resolved. A



complaint must be taken to the Housing Ombudsman within 12 months of the date of the final response from GHH as a landlord.

As GHH is a provider of both housing and support services, all complaints- housing or non-housing relatedwill follow the complaints process outlined in this policy, but only complaints from tenants are able to be referred to the Housing Ombudsman.

The contact details for the Housing Ombudsman are as follows:
Phone: 0300 111 3000 (opening hours are Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Friday 9am - 5pm, Thursday 9am-3:30pm)
Email: info@housing-ombudsman.org.uk
Online complaint form: https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/online-complaint-form/

• Write: Housing Ombudsman Service, PO Box 1484, Unit D, Preston, PR2 0ET

The Ombudsman provides more information about referring a complaint to them here: <u>https://www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk/residents/bring-your-complaint-to-the-housing-ombudsman</u>

As a member of the Housing Ombudsman service, GHH are be bound by the terms, decisions and adjudications of the Housing Ombudsman's Service, regardless of whether we agree with the outcome or not. The Ombudsman may report a member's complaint handling failure to any appropriate regulatory agency and/or the board, committee, panel or senior officer of the member along with any related details as the Ombudsman sees fit. The Ombudsman may publish the fact and circumstances of a member's complaint-handling rulings, naming the member in the Ombudsman's annual report or elsewhere.

GHH will respond positively to all Ombudsman enquiries, investigations and recommendations and undertake to comply promptly with any rulings.

We also publish on our website information about the Housing Ombudsman and how customers can contact them.

We are required as a member of the Housing Ombudsman Scheme to undertake an annual self-assessment of our performance against the Housing Ombudsman Complaint Handling Code 2024 and produce an Annual Complaints Performance and Service Improvement Report. These documents are published on the Our Performance section of our website: <u>https://www.grosvenor.com/hart-performance</u>

For more information, you can visit www.housing-ombudsman.org.uk

Complaint investigation principles

A complaint investigation will be conducted in an impartial manner, seeking sufficient reliable information from both parties so that fair and appropriate findings and recommendations can be made. To ensure that a complaint investigation is fair, at each stage of the complaints process we will:

- Deal with each case on its merits
- Act independently and have an open mind
- Give the customer a fair chance to set out their position
- Take measures to address any actual or perceived conflict of interest



- Consider all relevant information and evidence carefully
- Keep the complaint confidential as far as possible. We will only disclose details of the complaint more widely where this proves necessary in order to allow us to conduct a thorough investigation. Where a key issue of a complaint relates to the parties' legal obligations, we will clearly set out our understanding of the obligations of both parties and seek clarification before doing so where this is not initially clear.

In our handling of complaints, our approach for all employees and any third parties we work with will seek to:

- Take an empathetic, collaborative and co-operative approach towards resolving complaints, working with colleagues across organisations and departments as appropriate.
- Take collective responsibility for any shortfalls identified, rather than blaming others
- Act within the professional standards for engaging with complaints as set by relevant professional bodies including the Regulator of Social Housing and the Housing Ombudsman.

How complaints will be handled

Customers can raise a complaint with any member of GHH staff. Staff will be trained in handling and responding to complaints appropriately and will be empowered to deal with complaints as and when they arise including escalating the complaint to the appropriate person within the organisation.

We will endeavour to act early and swiftly to resolve issues as they arise. Where GHH has got things wrong, staff will apologise and explain what went wrong and what action will be taken to put things right. When responding in writing we will make it clear what stage in the process the response relates to and give clear guidance on how to escalate a complaint if the customer does not feel their complaint has been resolved.

We will at all stages provide customer with contact information for the Housing Ombudsman making it clear that there is a continual right of access to their service if the customer does not feel their complaint is being dealt with according to the GHH policy, not just at the point at which our internal complaint processes are exhausted.

GHH will provide updates to the customer on the progress of any outstanding actions related to the case and customers are advised to contact GHH if they have any further queries or issues.

We have a two-stage complaints process.

Stage 1

When a complaint is made, it will be acknowledged, defined and logged at Stage 1 within five working days of receipt. When we acknowledge a complaint at Stage 1 we will set out our understanding of the complaint and the outcomes the customer is seeking i.e. the 'complaint definition'. We will seek clarification of the customer's views where this is necessary and if any part of the complaint is unclear. We will also make clear which aspects of the complaint we are and are not responsible for and clarify any areas where this is not clear.

In the interest of seeking quick and early resolutions to complaints where possible, our initial triage process will consider the complexity of each complaint and whether the tenant is vulnerable or at risk and determine an appropriate course of action to resolve the case promptly at stage 1, providing an explanation, apology or other resolution without delay where possible.

We will provide a full response to the complaint **within 10 working days** of the complaint being acknowledged. We will respond when the answer to the complaint is known, not when any outstanding



actions required to address the issue have been completed. However, where possible we will provide guidance on when the actions will be completed Our response will address all the points raised in the complaint definition and refer to the relevant policy, law and good practice, where appropriate, to explain the reasons for any decisions.

Our response will be in writing in clear, plain language and include:

- the complaint stage
- the complaint definition
- our decision on the complaint
- the reasons for any decisions made
- the details of any remedy offered to put things right
- details of any outstanding actions
- details of how to escalate the matter to Stage 2 if the customer is not satisfied with the answer.

Thereafter, we will continue to progress and complete any outstanding actions as promptly as possible and issue regular updates to the customer where actions are taking place over a longer period. Customers can also contact their GHH case officer at any time for an update.

There will be times when we are unable to provide a comprehensive response in the timeframes set out. On these occasions, we may extend a response deadline by up to a maximum of 10 working days but only with the prior agreement of the complainant. On these occasions, complainants will be kept up to date and will receive an explanation for any delays. We will provide customers with the contact information for the person handling the complaint and also the contact details of the Housing Ombudsman in case the customer is a tenant who is not happy with our proposed response timescale.

If, during the course of the Stage 1 investigation, further complaints are made by the customer, we will incorporate these into our response if the issues are related and we have not yet issued the Stage 1 response. In cases where we have already issued the Stage 1 response, where the new issues are deemed unrelated to the original issue under investigation or where incorporating the new issue would unreasonably delay the response, the new issue would be required to be logged as a new complaint.

Stage 2

Once Stage 1 has been completed, if all or part of the complaint is not resolved to the customer's satisfaction it will be progressed to Stage 2, unless an exclusion ground applies. In cases where we cannot accept a complaint because exclusion grounds apply, we will explain the reason for this to the customer.

Stage 2 is the final stage in our complaints process and signals our final response to the issue as the landlord. It will involve suitable staff members needed to issue such a response. As such, a Stage 2 complaint will be considered by a senior manager who has not considered the complaint at Stage 1.

A request to escalate a complaint to Stage 2 will be acknowledged, defined and logged within **five working days** of the escalation request being received. Customers do not have to explain their reasons for escalation to Stage 2 and we will seek to understand why the customer remains unhappy.

When we acknowledge a complaint at Stage 2 we will set out our understanding of the complaint and the outcomes the customer is seeking i.e. the 'complaint definition'. We will seek clarification of the customer's views where this is necessary or if any part of the complaint is unclear. We will also make clear which aspects of the complaint we are and are not responsible for and clarify any areas where this is not clear.



We will provide a final response to the complaint within **20 working days** of the complaint being acknowledged. We will respond when the answer to the complaint is known, not when any outstanding actions required to address the issue have been completed. However, where possible we will provide guidance on when the actions will be completed. Our response will address all the points raised in the complaint definition and refer to the relevant policy, law and good practice, where appropriate, to explain the reasons for any decisions.

Our response will be in writing in clear, plain language and include:

- the complaint stage
- the complaint definition
- our decision on the complaint
- the reasons for any decisions made
- the details of any remedy offered to put things right
- details of any outstanding actions
- details of how to escalate the matter to the Housing Ombudsman service if the customer is a GHH tenant and remains dissatisfied.

Thereafter, we will continue to progress and complete any outstanding actions as promptly as possible and issue regular updates to the customer where actions are taking place over a longer period. Customers can also contact their GHH case officer at any time for an update.

In exceptional circumstances where we are unable to respond within this timeframe, due to the complexity of the complaint, the timeframe may be extended. We will provide an explanation to the customer and confirm a clear timeframe for when the response will be received. This extension should not exceed 20 working days without good reason. We will continue to keep the customer up to date with the progress of their complaint and provide them with the details of the Housing Ombudsman if they are not satisfied with the timeliness of our response.

We will clearly communicate in writing any decision we make to decline a request to escalate a complaint to Stage 2. In doing so, we will explain our reasons for not escalating as well as confirm the customer's right to approach the Ombudsman about our decision if the customer is a GHH tenant.

Recording complaints

In all cases, we will keep a full record of each complaint and the outcomes at each stage using our case management system.

Grosvenor Hart Homes are committed to ensuring the security and protection of the personal information that we process and to provide a compliant and consistent approach to data protection.

Immediate safety

We will from time to time receive complaints containing information that suggests an individual may be in imminent risk of harm either as a result of health and safety or safeguarding concerns. Our immediate concern should be for the wellbeing of that individual and the staff member who first receives the complaint must act in accordance with the GHH Health and Safety and Safeguarding procedures as required as a priority. Only then should a complaint be logged.



Our 3 key overarching principles in complaint resolution

- **Be fair** seeking fair outcomes. We will treat each case individually and ensure the remedy is fair when considering the specific circumstances of the case by providing a remedy which is appropriate
- **Put things right**. A remedy must set out the measure(s) that will correct the perceived failures
- Learn from outcomes. Where possible we add value by looking beyond the circumstances of the individual complaint and considering whether anything can be improved in terms of process and systems as a result.

Customer communication

We will maintain regular contact with a customer throughout the complaints process, including where there is no new information.

Putting things right

Where something has gone wrong, we will acknowledge this and take actions to put things right.

The actions we may take following a complaint may include:

- Apologising
- Acknowledging where things have gone wrong
- Providing an explanation, assistance or reasons why an approach has been taken
- Taking a specific action
- Reconsidering or changing a decision
- Amending a record or adding a correction or addendum
- Providing financial compensation
- Providing other remedy to address the issue
- Changing policies, procedures or practices.

Any remedy offered will consider and reflect the impact on the customer of any fault identified. We will also consult Ombudsman guidance when determining appropriate remedies.

Remedies can be put in place at any stage of the complaints process as appropriate and in agreement with the Complaints Officer where appropriate.

When a remedy is offered, we will clearly set out what will happen and by when, in agreement with the customer, where appropriate. We will follow through all remedies to completion.

Compensation

In some circumstances, it will be appropriate to offer compensation as part of a complaint response. Compensation offers will be considered on a case-by-case basis and will take account of the following:

- the length of time that a situation has been ongoing
- the frequency with which something has occurred
- the severity of any service failure or omission
- the number of different failures



- the cumulative impact on the customer and any distress caused
- the customer's particular circumstances or vulnerabilities.

Restrictions

We may place restrictions on a customer's contact with us where their behaviour becomes unacceptable, impacts upon our ability to consider their complaint or to serve other customers or they engage in abusive or threatening behaviour.

In these instances, we will explain the reason for our decision and how we propose to engage with the customer to address their concerns. We will keep any restrictions we place under regular review. We will ensure our decision is proportionate and takes account of the customer's needs and demonstrates regard for the provisions of the Equality Act 2010.

More detail on our approach to restrictions can be found on the GHH Acceptable Behaviour Policy, which can be found on our website: <u>https://www.grosvenor.com/hart-tenants</u> in the 'Key Policies' section or <u>here</u>.

Promoting awareness of our approach to complaints

It is important that our customers are clear on how they can make a complaint when things go wrong and understand how we will deal with complaints.

We will ensure that our complaints policy and process, the Housing Ombudsman's Complaint Handling Code and the Housing Ombudsman scheme (including contact information) is promoted in different ways e.g. on our website, visible on posters across our sites and in bulletins and correspondence as appropriate. We are committed to making our policy simple and easy to use.

Equality, diversity and inclusion

We will ensure that our complaints policy and process is accessible to all customers. This means we will:

- Fulfil our legal duties under the Equality Act 2010 to advance equality of opportunity and prevent discrimination and additionally meet the commitment of GHH to consider care experience as a protected characteristic.
- Adapt our approach considering the needs of our customers and make reasonable adjustments to ensure a tenant can raise and address their complaint with us.
- Keep a record of any reasonable adjustments agreed with customers as well as recording any disabilities residents have disclosed and keep the reasonable adjustments under active review
- Ensure that all staff who handle complaints receive regular equality, diversity and inclusion training.
- Ensuring all of our contractors are aware of the GHH Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy and act in accordance with it to ensure we deliver inclusive, non-discriminatory services. Carry out an equality impact assessment on our complaints policy and take forward any recommendations to enhance our policy.
- Where a customer has a vulnerability or characteristic that may make it harder for them to access the policy, e.g. due to age, disability, care experience, mental health, religion/faith, pregnancy/maternity, race or language, we will look at how we can facilitate support so the customer can fully access the policy. This may be through exploring translation services, producing large print versions of our documentation or providing assistance via the GHH Children, Young People and Family support service.



Learning from complaints

Effective complaint handling is a key priority for us and we are committed to learning from complaints so that we can continuously improve the services we deliver to our tenants and other customers. This is part of our aim to establish a positive complaint handling culture so we can effectively resolve disputes.

Our Housing Director (also our Deputy Chief Executive) is our appointed complaints officer, who is responsible for complaints handling and will take the lead on assessing themes, trends, risks and where policies and procedures need to be revised. We will proactively consider lessons learnt from each complaint and assign tangible actions to each lesson learnt to ensure they lead to genuine improvement in our services. We will ensure this learning is shared across the GHH team and that our Executive Leadership Team considers insights from individual complaints, themes and trends to make positive changes to service delivery. Our learning will be informed by both the case findings and also feedback from customers who have been through the GHH complaints process.

We have an appointed Lead Member Responsible for Complaints (MRC) on our Board. We will ensure that the MRC and the rest of the Board receive regular updates on complaints including on volume, categories and outcomes, complaint handling performance, reviews of issues and trends and updates on the outcomes of any Ombudsman investigations and progress in addressing any findings, as well as the annual complaints performance and service improvement report. The MRC is responsible for ensuring that the Board receives regular information on complaints to enable it to understand our complaints handling performance.

In line with our commitment to be accountable and transparent, we will also report on our performance and learning and service improvements which have resulted from complaints to our customers, including through our regular tenant bulletins, on our website, at regular neighbourhood forums and through our annual report. We will publish on our website an annual complaints performance and service improvement report, which will include our annual self-assessment against the Housing Ombudsman Code, summary details of complaints and an analysis of our complaint handling performance and learning and improvements arising from complaints. Our Board will scrutinise and respond to this report.

Performance measures

As a minimum, we will collect and report the following measures. These are all Tenant Satisfaction Measures (TSMs) which the Regulator of Social Housing requires us to collect:

- Complaints relative to the size of the landlord (CH01)
- Complaints responded to within Complaint Handling Code timescales (CH02)
- Satisfaction with the landlord's approach to handling complaints (TP09)

Our performance against these measures will be monitored via our Performance and Quality (P&Q) team and shared with our Heads of Function, Executive Leadership Team and Board on a regular basis.

Review schedule

This policy will be reviewed every three years or more frequently as a result of feedback obtained, internal/external audits and change in legislation or regulatory requirements. This process ensures the policy's continuing suitability, adequacy, and effectiveness.



The Housing Director has responsibility for this policy, and ultimate responsibility for performance and compliance sits with the board.

Current version	Date approved	Date for review	Document owner
1.1	27.06.23	27.06.24	Karl Dean
1.2	07.08.24	07.08.27	Karl Dean
1.3	18.06.25	18.06.28	Karl Dean